Clerk of the Court Received 02/26/2024 03:45 PM Resubmitted 02/26/2024 03:56 PM Filed 02/26/2024 03:56 PM

# IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

#### **GLENN ARTHUR SMITH**

Appellant

v.

#### UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Appellee

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Case No. 2011-CF1-013068

#### EN BANC BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Sean R. Day
D.C. Bar No. 452420
6411 Ivy Ln Ste 304
Greenbelt MD 20770-1405
301.220.2270
Sean@DayInCourt.Net
Attorney for Appellant

## LIST OF ALL PARTIES, INTERVENORS, AMICI CURIAE, AND THEIR COUNSEL IN THE TRIAL COURT AND IN THE APPELLATE PROCEEDING

Party	Attorneys and Judges - Superior Court	Counsel - Appeal

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. Did the trial court err in concluding that *Batson* was not violated where, in a case involving the allegation that a black man raped a white woman, the government struck every black person and other person of color from the jury panel?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

V.F. was allegedly raped on June 13, 2010. Glenn Arthur Smith, Jr., was on December 14, 2011, charged by indictment with related offenses (vaginal rape, anal rape, and attempted robbery), followed by a superseding indictment on October 24, 2012.

Following a jury trial (before the Honorable Thomas J. Motley, Senior Judge) on December 4, 5, 10, and 11, 2012, on December 12 the jury returned guilty verdicts on the two rape counts and acquitted on the attempted robbery charge.

Smith filed a series of *pro se* motions under Super. Ct. R. Crim. P. 33. Following appointment of new counsel, the trial court requested one comprehensive replacement filing; on October 18, 2013, Smith (through counsel) filed a replacement *Motion for New Trial*.

With the motion for a new trial pending, the trial court sentenced Smith on April 11, 2014, to 25 years incarceration, 5 years supervised release, \$200 VVCA, and lifetime sex offender registration.

Considerable briefing and litigation followed, and on February 13, 2018, the trial court issued a *Memorandum Opinion* denying the motion.

The trial court extended the time to file a notice of appeal to April 13, 2018. A notice of appeal was filed March 19, 2018.

On October 28, 2019, prior appellate counsel filed a brief addressing the post-trial motions. On February 24, 2020, prior appellate counsel filed a new notice of appeal to create a direct appeal and the government filed a waiver of the time limit.<sup>1</sup>

On November 23, 2020, Smith (through new counsel) filed a replacement consolidated brief addressing all trial and post-trial issues.

A decision affirming the trial court was issued and entered on February 2, 2023. *Smith v. United States*, 288 A.3d 766 (D.C. 2023). A petition for rehearing *en banc* was filed (following an extension) on June 15, 2023, which was granted on November 28, 2023.

This second notice of appeal was superfluous, as the March 19, 2018 notice of appeal covered all trial and post-trial issues. D.C. Ct. App. R. 4.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 13, 2010, V.F. was a 22-year-old woman and May 2010 college graduate. (12/4/12 at 209, 214; 12/5/12 at 263.) She testified that while walking home from a party she was raped by an unidentified man. (12/5/12 at 242-50.) DNA collected at the time of the incident was later matched to Glenn Smith. (12/11/12 at 103-4.) Smith testified that the encounter was consensual, but that V.F. became upset when he penetrated her anally; they argued and he left. (12/10/12 Smith at 4-12.)<sup>2</sup>
Smith is black and V.F. is white. (12/3/12 Trial at 22-23.)<sup>3</sup>

The defense was expected to be, and was, consent.<sup>4</sup>

The December 10 transcript is in two parts; one part is primarily Smith's testimony.

There is a separate transcript for a motion heard the same day.

Government: "As conversations have ensued with Defense Counsel, I'm sensing that identity ... would not necessarily be an issue." (12/3/12 at 41-42.)

Defense Counsel: "This will be more of a consent defense than an identity defense ...." (*Id.* at 43.)

Court: "Given that your defense is it was consensual, [Mr. Smith's alleged statement to a third party that it was consensual] shouldn't [be] a bombshell." (*Id.* at 139.)

Court, to juror being excused: "The Defense here is going to be consent." (12/4/12 at 96.) (footnote continues)

At the time of trial a little over 50% of D.C. residents were black; 38.5% were white.<sup>5</sup> The jury venire consisted of 67 persons (approximately one-third black) from which the trial court qualified 36 (plus one extra). (Juror List; 12/4/12 at 136.) Though this case ultimately depended upon a credibility determination between two civilians, two jurors (one black, one Hispanic)<sup>6</sup> were struck for cause due to distrust of police. (12/4/12 at 81-82, 110-12.)

Of the 36 persons qualified, 30 were white (83%), four black (11%),

Also, the court discussed the government's obligations regarding disclosing information that Mr. Smith told others the incident was consensual with the understanding that Mr. Smith's defense was consent, not identity. (12/4/12 at 10-14.)

While the defense strategy might have changed if the government did not go through the formality of introducing DNA evidence, everyone understood it was just that — a mere formality of ticking off the identity box for the government's case-in-chief. The defense required the government to put on evidence of identity but did not contest it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 2010 census, located at https://www2.census.gov/geo/pdfs/reference/guidestloc/11\_DistrictofColumbia.p df (accessed 01/04/24)

With reasonable certainty. One juror had a Hispanic surname, while the other resided in a zip code in which 97% of residents were black (and 1% multiracial). 2010 Census data for 20019 zip code at https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=8600000US20019&tid=ACSDP5Y2012. DP05 (accessed 01/04/24)

one Filipino, and one Hispanic. (12/4/12 at 86, 125-26.) Each of the six persons of color answered *No* to all *voir dire* questions. The prosecution struck every one of them.<sup>7</sup>

The *Batson* challenge was based upon all persons of color being removed, though the discussion later focused on the black persons; without accepting the strikes of the Filipino and Hispanic persons, the defense argued that just the strikes of the four black persons violated Batson.<sup>8</sup> (12/4/12 at 126-28.)

The prosecution offered its claimed race-neutral reasons for the four black persons. Juror 13/238, it argued, was a plumber's assistant and so the scientific evidence would be above his mental capacity. (12/4/12 at 61, 129,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Black persons were thus 50% of the District population, 33% of the venire, 11% of persons qualified for the jury, and 0% of the deliberating jury.

The random probability of drawing 12 out of 12 white persons from the District's population was approximately 1 in  $100,000 ((0.385)^{12})$ .

<sup>&</sup>quot;Your Honor, I do at this time raise a Batson issue. The Government has eliminated every black person from the jury as well as Asian and Hispanic ...." (12/4/12 at 125.)

<sup>&</sup>quot;[The government struck] all of the African-American jurors ... as well as the only Asian and Hispanic juror." (126)

<sup>&</sup>quot;I believe with just the four [black] individuals [the *Batson* challenge] would stand, Your Honor." (127)

132-33.) The government was similarly concerned about the mental capacity of Juror 34/254, a black cashier, and without specificity that "her dress was very disrespectful to the Court." (97, 129, 132-33) The prosecution did not strike the white nanny (Juror 35/916). (97-98, 143) The prosecution *did* strike a Hispanic man who was a full-time student at a technical school studying project management and administration. (92) The prosecution also struck a black man (Juror 1/721) who did information technology (12/4/12 at 39), which would have brought from the venire into the deliberating jury someone who was a Starbucks barista (explained below).

The prosecution asked not a single question of any juror about their scientific knowledge or interests.

Regarding the third black person (Juror 7/683), the prosecution explained that he did not understand one of the questions well; he mistakenly answered *Yes* to the question regarding employment in the criminal justice system; he worked for the Department of Public Works and heard the part about local or state government, so he answered affirmatively. (12/4/12 at 117, 129-30.)<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The question was:

Regarding Juror 1/171, a well-educated black man eliminated with an "alternate juror" strike, the prosecution explained it had no reason to strike him other than it would have brought someone they preferred (who was a white woman) "into the number one position." (12/4/12 at 107-9, 130.) Challenged on it, the prosecution withdrew its strike of the non-deliberating black juror.<sup>10</sup>

Now, question number five and number six that apply to a group of people. Five and six apply to a group of people. Let me tell you the members of that group. The first member of that group is you, yourself. It applies to you. The second members of the group are members of your immediate family. And the third member of the group is any close, I underscore close, personal friend. Has any member of that group, you, yourself, members of your immediate family, close personal friends ever worked for any local state or federal police force, investigative agency or Department of Corrections? Has any member of that group worked for any local, state or federal prosecutor's office, any local, state or Federal Court system, any defense attorney or defense investigator or participated in a neighborhood watch program such as Orange Hats?

(12/4/12 at 27-28.)

The reason the prosecution gave was incorrect. The juror it preferred (Juror 45/839) was already slated to be a deliberating juror in Seat 14 (Seats 1 and 2 were alternates) and was going to be unaffected by the strike. Striking Juror 1/721 would have caused Juror 18/688, a white man (foreign service officer and economist for the Department of State), to go from a deliberating juror into Seat 1 (alternate), and Juror 47/899, a white woman (Starbucks barista and former bookkeeper), to join the deliberating jury. (continued next page)

The defense continued to object, arguing repeatedly that even if one could state a reason for each stricken person in isolation, it was problematic that the prosecution struck all black persons (and the two other persons of color); this aggregate of strikes revealed racial discrimination. (12/4/12 at 125-34.)<sup>11</sup> Rather than considering defense

As the jury documents show, persons not struck remained in their original seat; persons struck were replaced by the next person who was outside the first 14. Thus, the jury seats were filled as follows:

Seat 1 (alternate): Juror 1/721 (not	Seat 2 (alternate): Juror 17/327 (the
struck so he stayed in original seat)	first available outside the first 14)
Sant 3: Jurar 3/450	Seat 4: Juror 18/688 (next available
Seat 3: Juror 3/450	outside the first 14)
Seat 5: Juror 19/272	Seat 6: Juror 6/362
Seat 7: Juror 26/733	Seat 8: Juror 35/916
Seat 9: Juror 37/511	Seat 10: Juror 41/212
Seat 11: Juror 11/298	Seat 12: Juror 12/800-2
Seat 13: Juror 44/625	Seat 14: Juror 45/839

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Mr. Gross: Individually [for] him I think that could have a basis.

Court: Okay. So that one surely passes [muster].

Mr. Gross: Individually, Your Honor.

<sup>(12/4/12</sup> at 132.)

Mr. Gross: I think based upon the totality of the strikes it does establish a *prima facie* case. If you individually separate them from what was actually done, then you could find a reason for each individual person. But, Your Honor, I think you have to look at

counsel's point, the trial court targeted defense counsel for only striking white persons, even though the panel was disproportionately white and the prosecution left no one else to strike. (134-35)

Unlike the persons of color it struck (all six of whom answered *No* to all *voir dire* questions), the prosecution had good reason for its strikes of white persons. One had been a criminal defense attorney (including rape defense) in her home country (12/4/12 at 54-56); one had a negative encounter with police (64); one had been falsely accused of a crime, falsely arrested, and roughed up by police (67); and one had interned at a public defender's office and his sister had been convicted of some crimes (49-50). (See chart of jurors and government strikes in addendum to this brief.)

Without further probing or analysis, the trial court rejected the *Batson* challenge by accepting the race-neutral reasons:

I will accept the Government's reason[s] that [these are] race [] neutral reasons .... I think that the reason that the Government gives is a credible reason, and the Government [has] assured that this was not based on race. I will accept the Government's representation.

(12/4/12 at 135.)

the totality of the selections. (133)

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Division's opinion is at odds with *Harris v. United States*, 260 A.3d 663, 669 (D.C. 2021), and Supreme Court precedent, that require trial judges to participate actively in the *Batson* process. The trial court did nothing more than require the prosecution to state a race-neutral reason (Step 1 of the *Batson* process).

Three factors required the highest level of scrutiny here: (1) this was a quintessential racially-charged case, a type described by one court as more incendiary that interracial homicide; (2) the statistical evidence was overwhelming; and (3) every single person of color was struck.

The reasons provided by the prosecution were disconnected from the case and fail a side-by-side comparison. While not asking a single potential juror about scientific knowledge or interests, the prosecution mainly cited the professions of the struck jurors due to "the level of scientific evidence in [the] case," even though the defense was consent with minimal contested scientific evidence (competing expert testimony about skin tears). Meanwhile, the prosecution did not strike a white nanny; struck two well-educated nonwhite jurors; and made a strike that would have moved a (male) foreign service officer and economist from a deliberating seat to an alternate seat and replaced him with a (female) Starbucks barista from the venire.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

A *Batson*<sup>12</sup> inquiry contains three steps:

First, a defendant must make a *prima facie* showing that a peremptory challenge has been exercised on the basis of race. Second, if that showing has been made, the prosecution must offer a race-neutral basis for striking the juror in question. Third, in light of the parties' submissions, the trial court must determine whether the defendant has shown purposeful discrimination.

*Miller-El v. Cockrell*, 537 U.S. 322, 328-29, 123 S. Ct. 1029, 1035 (2003) (citing *Batson*).

Whether a defendant made a *prima facie* showing is reviewed *de novo. Haney v. United States*, 206 A.3d 854, 860 (D.C. 2019). However, where the government offers its reasons, the first question is moot. *Johnson v. United States*, 107 A.3d 1107, 1112 (D.C. 2015).

The second question is whether the government offered a "clear and reasonably specific" race-neutral explanation that is "related to the particular case to be tried." *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 98 incl. n.20, 106 S. Ct. at 1724. The explanation, however, does not have to make sense at the second step. *Smith v. United States*, 966 A.2d 367, 374 n.10 (D.C. 2009). This issue is reviewed *de novo*. *See, e.g., United States v Uwaezhoke*, 995 F.2d 388,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 86, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 1717 (1986).

392 (3d Cir. 1993); *United States v. Steele*, 298 F.3d 906, 910 (9th Cir. 2002); *Heno v. Sprint/United Mgmt. Co.*, 208 F.3d 847, 854 (10th Cir. 2000); *Valdez v. People*, 966 P.2d 587, 590 (Colo. 1998); *Goldberg v. State*, 280 Ga. App. 600, 602, 634 S.E.2d 419, 422 (2006); *People v. Knight*, 473 Mich. 324, 343, 701 N.W.2d 715, 726 (2005); *Moeller v. Blanc*, 276 S.W.3d 656, 661 (Tex. App. 2008).

On the third step — determining whether the defendant has established discrimination —

the trial court must rigorously scrutinize the race-neutral explanations offered to rebut the allegation of discrimination; if it fails to do so, *Batson*'s promise of eliminating racial discrimination in jury selection will be an empty one. The court must decide whether counsel's explanation is to be believed and its evaluation of credibility in this area is entitled to great deference.

Epps v. United States, 683 A.2d 749, 753 (D.C. 1996) (internal citations and notations omitted). The trial court's determination must be reversed if clearly erroneous. Smith v. United States, 966 A.2d 367, 377 (D.C. 2009).

Where the trial court fails to apply the correct legal analysis, however, the decision "lose[s] the insulation of the clearly erroneous rule." *Ingram v. United States*, 885 A.2d 257, 263 (D.C. 2005) (quotation marks and citation omitted).

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### THE NUMBERS

Black Persons

50% of the District's population (2010 census) 33% of the jury venire 11% of qualified jurors 0% of jurors

Probability of randomly eliminating 4 out of 4 black persons from a pool of 36 persons with 11 selections: 0.56%, or 1 in 179

Probability of randomly selecting 12 persons out of the District's entire population and having 0 black persons: 0.02%, or 1 in 5,000

<u>All Persons of Color</u> 61.5% of the District's population

Unk% of the jury venire 17% of qualified jurors 0% of jurors

Probability of randomly eliminating 6 out of 6 nonwhite persons from a pool of 36 persons with 11 selections: 0.024%, or 1 in 4,216

Probability of randomly selecting 12 persons out of the District's entire population and having 12 white persons: 0.001%, or 1 in 100,000

Numbers cited herein verified on three statistical calculators: https://www.emathhelp.net/calculators/probability-statistics/hypergeometric-distribution-calculator/

https://stattrek.com/online-calculator/hypergeometric.aspx
https://www.wolframalpha.com/widgets/gallery/view.jsp?id=ab7e3f4ceba7f2394
7ef49a3bbf93b56

In this case there was racial discrimination. Alternatively, the trial court failed to apply the correct legal analysis in failing to scrutinize, much less rigorously scrutinize, the government's stated reasons.

This is a quintessential racially-charged case, as the Division acknowledged. *Smith*, 288 A.3d at 777; *see also*, *People v. Johnson*, 8 Cal. 5th 475, 538, 453 P.3d 38, 83 (2019) (describing the black defendant's allege rape of a white women as perhaps even more "incendiary" than murder); *Johnson v. State*, 355 Md. 420, 435-36, 735 A.2d 1003, 1011 (1999) (describing *Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U.S. 45, 53 S. Ct. 55 (1932), involving black men accused of raping white women, as "racially charged"); *Miller v. North Carolina*, 583 F.2d 701, 703 (4th Cir. 1978) (interracial rape case was "necessarily a racially sensitive prosecution"). As Justice Thurgood Marshall wrote regarding limitations on jury *voir dire* in a case where black men were accused of assaulting and robbing a white man:

[T]o say that petitioner is not a potential target of racial prejudice would be to ignore as judges what we must all know as men. That petitioner was tried in Boston, Massachusetts, while Gene Ham [Ham v. South Carolina, 409 U.S. 524, 93 S. Ct. 848 (1973)] was tried in Florence, South Carolina, is of no consequence. Racial prejudice is a cultural malady that has shaped our history as a nation. It is a cancer of the mind and spirit which breeds as prolifically in the industrial cities of the North as in the rural towns of the

South. And where, as here and in the strikingly similar circumstances of the *Aldridge* case, a [black man] is being accused of an attack on a white policeman, it would be disingenuous at best to assert that he is not apt to be a particular target of racial prejudice.

Ross v. Massachusetts, 414 U.S. 1080, 1085, 94 S. Ct. 599, 602 (1973)

(Marshall, J., dissenting from denial of *certiorari*, joined by Justices Douglas and Brennan).

The *Batson* protections are not just for a defendant; they are for the protection of jurors, the integrity of the judicial system, and the benefit of society overall. *Powers v. Ohio*, 499 U.S. 400, 406-07, 111 S. Ct. 1364, 1368 (1991). As the Supreme Court has explained:

Jury service preserves the democratic element of the law, as it guards the rights of the parties and ensures continued acceptance of the laws by all of the people. It affords ordinary citizens a valuable opportunity to participate in a process of government, an experience fostering, one hopes, a respect for law. Indeed, with the exception of voting, for most citizens the honor and privilege of jury duty is their most significant opportunity to participate in the democratic process.

*Id.*, 499 U.S. at 407, 111 S.Ct. at 1369. So important are these rights that if race plays just a part of a single strike, reversal is required. *Harris v. United States*, 260 A.3d 663, 669 (D.C. 2021). "In the eyes of the Constitution, one racially discriminatory peremptory strike is one too many." *Flowers v.* 

Mississippi, 139 S. Ct. 2228, 2241 (2019).

Mr. Smith will focus on the third *Batson* step, which looks to "the honesty — not the accuracy — of a proffered race-neutral explanation." *Lamon v. Boatwright*, 467 F.3d 1097, 1101 (7th Cir. 2006) (quoted in *Smith v. United States*, 966 A.2d 367, 374 (D.C. 2009)). In the third *Batson* step, "[t]he trial court must rigorously scrutinize the race-neutral explanations offered to rebut the allegation of discrimination [.]" *Epps*, 683 A.2d at 753. The court "must undertake a sensitive inquiry into such circumstantial and direct evidence of intent as may be available." *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 93, 106 S. Ct. at 1721 (internal quotation marks omitted).

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