SECOND CORRECTED EN BANC CONSOLIDATED BRIEF



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Nos. 18- CO-289 & 20-CF-190

GLENN A. SMITH, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

* BRIDGET M. FITZPATRICK Principal Assistant U.S. Attorney

ELIZABETH H. DANELLO AMY H. ZUBRENSKY NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN D.C. Bar #460109 Assistant United States Attorneys

* Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Nicholas.Coleman@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2011-CF1-13068

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

In any event, Smith and amici each misapprehend Smith's burden, fail to identify any similar jurors that Judge Motley should have sua sponte compared one-by-one, and fail to show any clear error.

1. The Reliance by Smith and Amici on New Factual Challenges Is Inconsistent with Smith's Burden and the Clear-Error Standard of Review.

As the Division recognized, Smith presented to the trial court essentially *none* of the statistical evidence, side-by-side comparisons, and other factual arguments described supra (e.g., the nanny; the purported unimportance of scientific evidence; Smith's view of the DPW employee's answer; the lack of explanation as to the strikes of the Asian and Hispanic jurors; etc.) that he now presses on appeal. (Glenn) Smith, 288 A.3d at 778-779. Smith, of course, could have presented these issues, which would have permitted the government to respond and the court to make findings and resolve any factual disputes. Having failed to raise, much less establish, his current fact-based challenges in the trial court, Smith unsurprisingly cannot show clear error on appeal. See (David) Brown v. United States, 128 A.3d 1007, 1012 (D.C. 2015) (where defense counsel "merely made 'conclusory statements' that most

to the District as to "a Southern setting with a history of racial discrimination," *see Tursio*, 634 A.2d at 1211, Smith's case did not present the same degree of risk of racial injustice as the historical cases identified by the Division, Smith, and amici.

of the prosecutor's strikes were against [B]lack people" in response to government's race-neutral reasons, appellant "did not meet his burden under *Batson* to materially rebut the race-neutral explanations"); Walker v. United States, 982 A.2d 723, 732 (D.C. 2009) (although appellant was correct that the "record does show that the factual premise for some portions of the prosecutor's explanations was incorrect . . . [appellant's] counsel pointed out none of these discrepancies, and thus did not alert the trial court that further probing might be required. [Appellant] could not meet his burden at Batson step three . . . without challenging the factual basis of the prosecutor's explanations and pointing out inconsistencies."); Nelson v. United States, 649 A.2d 301, 311-12 (D.C. 1994) (defendant who failed to argue in the trial court that prosecutor's race-neutral reasons for a strike were "inconsistent with each other and unsupported by the record," but instead made only a "conclusory" argument below, failed to show clear error).

Supported by amici, however, Smith insists that he was under no obligation to fill in factual gaps because this was "a racially charged case," and hence the *trial court* had the burden to take steps to develop the record in support of his challenge (Smith Br. 34-35; PDS Br. 14-16; LDF Br. 17-19). He cites (at 34-35) this Court's decision in *Harris*, which held that in such a case, the trial court is required to "evaluate[] the prosecutor's explanations for her strikes with heightened scrutiny by examining each challenge in the entire context of the case and by probing the

prosecutor regarding why similarly situated persons were treated differently and assessing whether the differences highlighted by the prosecutor provided a 'sufficient, nondiscriminatory explanation, taking into account the strength of the prima facie showing of discrimination.'" *Harris*, 260 A.3d at 676-77 (quoting *Tursio*, 634 A.2d at 1212).

Even assuming arguendo that this was a "racially charged" case (but see 35-36, supra), Smith and amici err in suggesting that the "heightened scrutiny" called for by Harris operates as an escape hatch from Smith's burden of persuasion and the clear-error standard of review. Harris did not hold that a defendant may obtain reversal of his convictions merely because the trial court did not expressly conduct side-by-side comparisons of jurors that were never requested or address factual arguments that were never made. Rather, consistent with the applicable standard of review, *Harris* held that a trial court's factual finding of no discriminatory purpose as to a strike may be clearly erroneous where the existing record obviously refuted the prosecutor's proffered reasons and a side-by-side comparison based on that record revealed that the reasons applied equally to non-struck jurors who were otherwise similar. See 260 A.3d at 678-80 (noting that prosecutor's description of interaction with struck juror was incorrect; prosecutor did not explain why the message she noted on one struck juror's t-shirt was problematic; and her proffered description of a struck juror's voir dire responses appeared to apply equally to similar

non-struck jurors). By contrast, *Harris* upheld the trial court's finding as to a strike where, inter alia, a side-by-side comparison with an unstruck juror suggested that the government's proffered reason was equally applicable to that juror, but an additional (albeit unstated) reason why the government might have preferred the unstruck juror was "apparent on the record." *See id.* at 677 (no "clear err[or]" where, although government's proffered reason – the struck juror worked for a public school – might have applied to an unstruck juror, that unstruck juror also had a sister who was a police officer).

That approach is fully consistent with the clear-error standard of review, under which this Court defers to the trial judge's factual findings and the inferences drawn from those facts, and "the facts and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party that prevailed in the trial court." *Jones v. United States*, 779 A.2d 277, 281 (D.C. 2001) (en banc) (citations omitted; cleaned up). *Harris* thus confirmed that the burden remains on "the defendant to prove that the [government's] proffered explanation is a pretext for discrimination[,]" and that on appeal, "a trial court's ruling on the issue of discriminatory intent must be sustained unless it is clearly erroneous." 260 A.3d at 674-75 (citations omitted).

Smith's and amici's approach, by contrast, would upend the clear-error standard of review and shift the burden of persuasion to the trial judge. First, they essentially ask this Court to draw inferences from the existing record *against* the

prevailing party. For example, they seek to have this Court construe the lack of an on-the-record explanation as to the Asian and Hispanic juror strikes as implying the government had no legitimate basis for them; the absence of an express finding as to the cashier's dress as implying it was not disrespectful; and the fact that the government did not strike the nanny as implying the decision was motivated by race. But, as we demonstrate infra, the record provides greater support for the opposite implications, and in any event, all inferences must be drawn in favor of affirmance, not reversal. *See Jones*, 779 A.2d at 281.

Second, Smith expressly argues that, under *Harris*, "[i]n a racially charged case *the trial court*" (Smith Br. 34 (emphasis in original)) has the burden of challenging the government's proffered reasons and developing a record that undermines them. As justification for his inaction, ¹⁹ Smith complains (at 34) that "[i]t is a lot to require defense trial counsel, on the fly," to defend the constitutional rights protected by *Batson*. Smith does not explain why the trial judge, who is acting

_

¹⁹ Smith asserts (at 34) that his trial counsel "did at least as much as counsel in *Harris*," but the record of the two cases belies that claim. In *Harris*, defense counsel disputed some of the government's factual claims about jurors' responses, even asking the trial court to look back at the transcript to verify them; noted that some struck jurors had not responded to any voir dire questions; and made a side-by-side comparison of a struck and unstruck juror as to one of the government's proffered reasons. *See* 260 A.43d at 672-73. Thus, in *Harris* the defense had at least alerted the trial court that the record might not support the government's claims. Smith's counsel did nothing of the kind, instead conceding the "individual[]" validity of the government's reasons and contesting only the ultimate effect of the strikes.

equally "on the fly," should have to do counsel's work for him, and in any event the Supreme Court could not have been more clear: "The ultimate burden of persuasion regarding racial motivation rests with, and never shifts from, the opponent of the [peremptory] strike." *Purkett*, 514 U.S. at 768. Moreover, even in a *Batson* case, "[r]equiring the court to develop the defendant's arguments through examination of the prosecutor would make the judge an advocate rather than a neutral arbiter." *United States v. Houston*, 456 F.3d 1328, 1339 (11th Cir. 2006).²⁰

Unsurprisingly, it appears that the vast majority of courts in other jurisdictions have declined to adopt Smith's and amici's approach, under which a defendant may

²⁰ Notably, this and other courts have declined to require trial courts to serve as both advocate and judge in criminal proceedings. See, e.g., Ruffin v. United States, 219 A.3d 997, 1010 (D.C. 2019) ("The responsibility to identify the risk and raise the issue of unfair prejudice [from challenged evidence] with specificity for the judge's consideration is on the party seeking protection from it It is not the judge's role to assume that responsibility, snoop out the facts, and construct the argument for the litigant."); In re Jackson, 51 A.3d 529, 531, 541 (D.C. 2012) (holding that trial judge may not prosecute an indirect criminal contempt case; it would be "tall order" even for "the most conscientious trial judge" to safeguard defendant's rights while simultaneously prosecuting him); Williams v. Dieball, 724 F.3d 957, 963 (7th Cir. 2013) ("It is not the district court's job to flesh out every single argument not clearly made. . . . Judges are not clairvoyant, and if they were required to go out of their way to analyze every conceivable argument not meaningfully raised, their work would never end."); Stafford v. Ford Motor Co., 790 F.2d 702, 706 (8th Cir. 1986) ("The trial judge should not have to assume the role of an advocate on behalf of a litigant whose counsel has failed to assert a legal theory or argument that might be helpful to the litigant's case."); United States v. Marzano, 149 F.2d 923, 926 (2d Cir. 1945) (district judge "must not take on the role of a partisan; he must not enter the lists") (Hand, L., J.); Carpenter v. Vaughn, 888 F. Supp. 635, 648 (M.D. Pa. 1994) ("It is the litigants' role to present their case to the court, not vice versa.").

obtain reversal simply by pointing to questions the trial court failed sua sponte to ask, or comparative-juror analyses the court did not conduct. See, e.g., United States v. Atkins, 843 F.3d 625, 634 (6th Cir. 2016) ("[T]he district court's failure to conduct its own comparative juror analysis is not sufficient to require reversal."). Rather, where a defendant has failed to request a comparative juror analysis, or raise some other factual argument, many courts, including the D.C. Circuit, have held that the trial court's alleged error in failing to take the step on behalf of the defense should be treated as waived or reviewed, at most, for plain error. See, e.g., United States v. Gooch, 665 F.3d 1318, 1324–25 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (applying plain-error standard to defendant's unpreserved claim that government failed to strike white jurors who were similarly situated to stricken Black jurors); *United States v. Baskerville*, 448 F. App'x 243, 247 (3d Cir. 2011) (reviewing for plain error only claim that district court should have sua sponte compared jurors before ruling on credibility of government's race-neutral reasons); United States v. Chapman, 209 F. App'x 253, 264 (4th Cir. 2006) (declining to decide whether failure to request juror comparisons in district court would constitute waiver or merely forfeiture, because even under plain-error review defendant's claim failed to show obvious error); Chamberlin v. Fisher, 885 F.3d 832, 843-44 (5th Cir. 2018) (en banc) (state court not required to conduct comparative juror analysis sua sponte); *United States v. Hill*, 31 F.4th 1076, 1083 (8th Cir. 2022) (applying plain-error review to "similarly situated" Batson

arguments raised for first time on appeal); Houston, 456 F.3d at 1339 (declining to address argument that district court should have conducted comparative juror analysis that defendant failed to request); State v. Porter, 491 P.3d 1100, 1107 (Ariz. 2021) (defendant waived claim that comparative juror analysis would have supported his *Batson* claim by failing to request it in trial court; that failure "deprived the prosecutor of the opportunity to distinguish allegedly similarly situated jurors and divested the trial court of the occasion to conduct an in-depth comparison of the jurors"); Addison v. State, 962 N.E.2d 1202, 1213 (Ind. 2012) (reviewing unpreserved claim that trial court should have conducted side-by-side juror comparisons under "fundamental error doctrine," which was state-law equivalent of plain-error rule). There is merit to this approach, as the plain-error rule is designed to give litigants an incentive to raise timely objections in the trial court. See United States v. McAllister, 693 F.3d 572, 588 (6th Cir. 2012) (McKeague, J., concurring). But even those courts that do not treat unrequested side-by-side juror comparisons as waived or forfeited will decline to reverse based on such comparisons unless they establish *clear* error based on the existing record. See, e.g., Atkins, 843 F.3d at 636-37 (permitting comparative juror analysis for the first time on appeal only where "the basis for comparison has been sufficiently explored" in the district court such "that the analysis will not be unfair to the government"); People v. Beauvais, 393 P.3d 509, 523 (Colo. 2017) (although defendant may raise comparative juror

analysis that was not requested in trial court, "[s]uch a failure results in a record that is unlikely to support" defendant's argument on review; "Absent a developed record, we cannot compare the challenged jurors to empaneled jurors in this material respect and cannot therefore conclude that the trial court clearly erred."). ²¹ This is consistent with guidance from the Supreme Court, which has cautioned:

a retrospective comparison of jurors based on a cold appellate record may be very misleading when alleged similarities were not raised at trial. In that situation, an appellate court must be mindful that an exploration of the alleged similarities at the time of trial might have shown that the jurors in question were not really comparable.

Snyder, 552 U.S. at 483.

There is accordingly no basis for Smith to obtain, by procedural sleight-of-hand, automatic reversal for gaps in the record that were his burden to fill. *See Gooch*, 665 F.3d at 1332. Clear-error review should not be distorted to reward the defense for its own inaction, or blame the trial court for defense counsel's omissions.

We note that under both plain-error and clear-error review the burden of showing actual error is essentially the same, *cf. United States v. Schenian*, 847 F.3d 422, 424 (7th Cir. 2017) (noting that "[t]he 'clear error' standard of Rule 35(a) and the 'plain error' standard of Rule 52(b) may well be the same thing"), and a finding of "plain" error in the context of an otherwise preserved *Batson* challenge might well meet the third and fourth prongs of the plain-error test, i.e., substantial prejudice and a miscarriage of justice. It is accordingly unclear whether there is a practical difference between the two tests in the *Batson* context. *See United States v. Whiteside*, 747 F. App'x 387, 396 n.6 (6th Cir. 2018) (interpreting "plain-error and clear-error review to have 'no practical difference' in the context of *Batson* challenges"). There is no need for the Court to decide that question here, however, because Smith cannot show clear or plain error.

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